FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/9/2021 1:06 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100194-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 80861-3-I

CATHLEEN ROBERTSON, et al, Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

v.

VALLEY COMMUNICATIONS CENTER, Defendant-Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephen M. Hansen LAW OFFICE OF STEPHEN M. HANSEN, P.S 1821 Dock Street, Suite 103 Tacoma, WA 98402

Tel: (253) 302-5955 Fax: (253) 301-1147

steve@stephenmhansenlaw.com

Of Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Appellants

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the appellate court create numerous conflicts with existing precedent by affirming a partial summary judgment dismissing an MWA claim based on a first pre-shift task (obtaining ergonomic equipment) where it also reversed partial summary judgment on a second pre-shift task (signing-up for breaks) due to genuine issues of material fact, and where the employees supported the first pre-shift task with precisely the same types of evidence (i.e., they were trained to perform this work on the employer's premises) that precluded summary judgment?
- 2. Did the appellate court create numerous conflicts with existing precedent in affirming the exclusion of a survey of class members regarding the time required to complete certain pre-shift tasks, an exclusion that relied upon a factual determination that the survey's phrasing was confusing, where

- 1) no evidence showed actual confusion; 2) class members could have been questioned on this at trial; and 3) many cases hold this was a question of fact going to weight, not admissibility?
- 3. Did the trial court err in granting partial summary judgment dismissing claims for double damages under RCW 49.52.070(2) based upon an implied presumption that a bona fide dispute existed, but where the record contained no evidence of a bona fide dispute at the time wages were withheld and VCC's asserted legal arguments were clearly legally erroneous?¹

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The basic facts are accurately stated in the appellate decision. They are also set forth, with citations, in the Brief of Appellant. We provide a brief summary here.

¹ The appellate court did not reach this issue, which the class briefed. This issue may not independently justify review under this Court's criteria, but if the Court grants review, it should either address this issue, or remand it to the appellate court.

A. The employer trains its employees that to be considered "ready" for work, they must make certain pre-shift preparations, nine tasks that are performed on VCC's premises, but are uncompensated in violation of the MWA.

The appellants are a class of employees of VCC in two jobs: call receivers and dispatchers. All the employees work in the same 70- x 79-foot open space called the "Com Room." VCC expects its employees to be seated at their console and ready to begin work by one second past the top of the hour. CP 1127 – 1128.

To be ready at this time, employees may have to perform up to nine preparatory tasks prior to the start of their shifts:

- 1. Gathering/assembling guidebooks/resource materials;
- 2. Signing up for breaks;
- 3. 'Hand-punching' into computerized attendance/payroll system;
- 4. (For Dispatchers): obtaining console assignment;
- 5. Locating ergonomic chair and ergonomic carpel board, and/or any ergonomic equipment;
- 6. Logging into phone and computer systems;
- 7. Plugging headset and headset jack into console;

- 8. Reviewing clearing messages from the CAD system; and
- 9. (For Dispatchers): receive briefing from the outgoing Dispatcher. CP 4774 4779; CP 4780 4785.

All these tasks must be performed at VCC's work site according to its training, yet VCC does not compensate its employees for the time they spend preforming these daily preparatory tasks.

The employees sued VCC, alleging that its uncompensated pre-shift requirements violated the WPCL and the Washington MWA. The parties brought cross-motions for summary judgment as to whether the nine tasks were compensable work. The trial court eventually dismissed the employees' claims. CP 3807 – 3814; CP 4315 – 4316.

As discussed *infra*, the appellate court reversed many of the grounds on which the trial court relied, such as the federal *de minimis* doctrine that is contrary to Washington law. But the trial court's erroneous dismissal of six of the nine tasks as "*de minimis*" (CP 3807 – 3814) also undercut the employees'

preparation of their damages' calculations. The employees requested a continuance to reformulate their damage model, as all case work up to that point had been done based upon *all nine preparatory tasks* (not three of the nine tasks). The trial court denied a continuance. CP 4315 - 16.

The employees' damages expert (Dr. Siskin) and Survey Expert (Dr. Shay) then prepared a survey used to calculate damages on the remaining three tasks. On the eve of trial, the court determined that it disagreed with the framing of a questionnaire to class members asking for their estimates of the amount of pre-shift time spent on the three remaining tasks and prohibited reliance on the questionnaire, disregarding the well-established legal principle that the *weight* given to survey evidence is issue of fact for the jury, not an *admissibility* issue. CP 4902-07.

After entry of an order striking Dr. Siskin's testimony, the employees filed an offer of proof that if Siskin was precluded from testifying as to damages, it would be impossible

to estimate class-wide damages on the available evidence for only the three tasks (CP 3008-09) and impossible to estimate class-wide damages from the testimony of the limited witnesses listed for trial because they would not represent a valid statistical sample for the class for *three* tasks. CP 3008. Thus, Dr. Siskin would be unable to testify as to the total damages for *three* tasks. *Id*.

The employer made an oral request to dismiss based upon the employees' inability to prove damages. The trial court granted the request and denied the employees' request for a continuance. CP 4315-16. Critically, *nowhere* did the class concede it could not prove damages for *eight* tasks.

B. The appellate court agreed with the employees' two key appellate arguments regarding the six dismissed tasks, yet it affirmed based on errors of law and fact.

The employees assigned three errors: 1) dismissing six of nine pre-shift tasks; 2) excluding their expert and dismissing the action; and 3) dismissing double damages. Although it affirmed, the appellate court agreed with the two key employee

arguments.

First, the appellate court agreed with the employees that the federal *de minimis* doctrine trial court used to dismiss six of their tasks² has not been adopted in Washington because it is contrary to Washington law. *Id.* at 12-15. The trial court thus erred in dismissing any of the tasks on this basis. *Id.*

Second, the appellate court agreed that as to one of the tasks (signing up for breaks) the employees established a genuine issue of material fact, contrary to the trial court's ruling. *Robertson* at 10-11. The employees showed that they were (a) trained to sign up for breaks at the job site prior to their shifts, and (b) received negative performance reviews if they failed to do so. *Id.* at 11. This was sufficient to establish a genuine issue of material fact on this issue, precluding

² (1) Signing up for breaks, (2) hand-punching into the computerized system, (3) (for dispatchers) obtaining a console assignment, (4) locating ergonomic equipment, (5) logging into phone and computer systems, and (6) plugging the headset and headset jack into consoles.

summary judgment. Id.

Yet the appellate court contradicted its own correct holding on signing-up for breaks in affirming dismissal of the claim for locating and assembling ergonomic chairs/keyboards/ equipment. Robertson at 9-10. Just as it did with signing-up for breaks, in addressing whether locating ergonomic equipment was in fact "work," the appellate court relied on the Wash. Dep't of Labor & Indus., Admin. Policy ES.C.2, specifically ¶15: "Compensable preparatory tasks are those which are 'integral or necessary to the performance of the job."" Robertson at 9. And as with signing-up for breaks, the employees demonstrated that the employer trained its employees to locate and assemble their ergonomic equipment (carpel boards, ergonomic chairs) as one part of their pre-shift preparations,³ and also trained them how to use that

3

³ CP 1841; CP 1866; CP 1690; CP 1758; CP 1773; CP 1801; CP 1834; CP 1846; CP 1654; CP 1678; CP 1701-1702; CP 1719; CP 1733; and CP 1766.

equipment.⁴ Further, like the break sign-ups, the employees established that the employer had "knowledge of the [employees'] presence on premises through said Class Members' use of Defendant's electronic payroll/identification system." CP 1052. Indeed, the fact of this preparatory task (along with all the others) being performed at the jobsite, under the supervision of Defendant's supervisors, was undisputed on summary judgment. CP 1580 – 2020.

Yet the appellate court found no factual dispute on this issue, directly contrary to its own reasoning regarding signing-up for breaks. *Compare Robertson* at 9-10 *with* Mot. for Recon. at 1-7. The evidence is to the contrary. *Id*.

On the survey/expert issue, the appellate court cited and relied upon the claims of the employer's undisclosed expert, Dr. Palmatier, which were not admitted nor considered in the trial court. Compare Robertson at 6-7. The appellate court

⁴ CP 3574; CP 2121 ("Valley Communications Center - CE Training Leap Work Chair- How to use the Features").

essentially "re-weighed" the evidence, considering Dr.

Palmatier's claims the trial court had not considered in the first instance. *Id.* at 15 -16. This is contrary to cases like *State v*. *Robinson*, 24 Wn.2d 909, 917, 167 P.2d 986 (1946) ("appellate courts [must not] make of themselves a second jury and then pass upon the facts").

The appellate decision then upheld the dismissal of the case due to the exclusion of Dr. Siskin's testimony, on the erroneous basis that the employees had "conceded below that they would be unable to prove damages on anything less than the full nine preshift tasks." *Roberston* at 17-18. No such "concession" appears in this record. *See, e.g.*, CP 3005-08. Despite this, the decision erroneously concluded that "[b]ecause the trial court did not err in dismissing one of the nine preshift tasks... the employees' concession applies to the remaining eight tasks." *Id.* No equitable or legal basis exists for this holding.

In sum, the appellate agreed that the trial court erred as a

matter of law in dismissing six of the nine tasks, but then affirmed based on reading a nonexistent concession into the record and reweighing the evidence. *See also* Mot. for Recon. at 12-16. The class was thus deprived of an opportunity to prove their damages arising from the *eight* improperly dismissed tasks.

WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The appellate decision conflicts with this Court's precedent, applying an unheard of and incorrect legal standard. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The appellate decision conflicts with this Court's Weeks v. Chief of State Patrol, 96 Wn.2d 893, 639 P.2d 732 (1982). Weeks addressed whether time during the Trooper's lunch hours was compensable, where the Troopers were required to remain on call. Id. at 894. This Court upheld summary judgment for the Troopers, finding key that the employees were subject to the employer's control and call back: "Even though testimony in affidavits indicated permission is granted for troopers to engage in personal activities outside the work area during the lunch

hour, they must remain available by radio or telephone." *Id.* at 898.

Weeks cites federal decisions – including Armour & Co.

v. Wantock, 323 U.S. 126, 89 L.Ed. 118, 65 S.Ct. 165 (1944) –

as "representing the intent of our law." 96 Wn.2d at 897.

Armour addressed whether "it [was] error to count time spent in playing cards and other amusements, or in idleness, as working time?" Armour, 323 US at 132. The Court held that such time was "work" – irrespective of the specific activities – where the employees were on call and under the employer's control, providing "a benefit to the employer." Id. at 128, 133.

Here, the employees demonstrated that all preparations were performed at the worksite and that employees could be called into their shifts early during their preparation time. CP 1571 – 74; 1918 – 68. This meets the definition of work in *Weeks*. This Court did not focus solely on "integral or necessary," but the appellate court did. This direct conflict with *Weeks* merits this Court's review. This is particularly the case

given that the appellate court's published opinion, and its reasoning, focusing *narrowly* on a single aspect of the much broader DLI "integral or necessary" test of work. Given the absence of other published cases other than *Weeks*, the test under *Robertson* will becomes a much narrower test of what constitutes work, impacting employees forced to undertake unpaid pre- and post-shift work.

B. The exclusion of the survey, and the resulting dismissal, conflict with many appellate decisions.

The reliability of a survey goes to its weight, not to its admissibility. *Cf.*, *e.g.*, *State v. Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d 879, 899, 846 P. 2d 502 (1993) (questions regarding the application of scientific method go to "weight rather than the admissibility of the testimony," which is for a jury to assess). This rule is well-established – specifically with regards to surveys – in the Ninth Circuit. *See*, *e.g.*, *Keith v. Volpe*, 858 F.2 467, 480 (9th Cir. 1988) ("Technical inadequacies in the survey, including the format of the questions or the manner in which it was taken, bear on the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility.");

Fortune Dynamic, Inc. v. Victoria's Secret, 618 F.3d. 1025, 1037-38 (9th Cir. 2010) (reversing exclusion of survey: "these criticisms, valid as they may be, go to 'issues of methodology, survey design, reliability,... [and] critique of conclusions,' and therefore 'go to the weight of the survey rather than its admissibility").

Robertson – a published decision – neither addresses these well-established principles, nor proffers an alternate legal principle to follow in the future. Instead, it affirms the exclusion of evidence based on what *a court* may find unpersuasive, directly contrary to this Court's decisions (going back well over seventy years) on the proper roles of courts and juries. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Meyer*, 37 Wn.2d 759, 769, 226 P.3d 204 (1951); *Johnson v. Harvey*, 44 Wn.2d 455, 457, 268 P.2d 662 (1954) (citing *Birkel v. Chandler*, 26 Wash. 241, 246, 66 Pac. 406 (1901)).

The appellate decision also affirmed dismissal on the factually erroneous basis that the employees had "conceded"

inability to prove damages on less than the "full nine preshift tasks." *Robertson* at 17. No such concession was ever made, and nothing would prevent the employees from presenting evidence of damages based on the *eight* pre-shift tasks the appellate court reinstated – if it was fairly afforded an opportunity to do so. *See Chavez v. Our Lady of Lourdes Hosp.* at *Pasco*, 190 Wn.2d 507, 519, 415 P.3d 224 (2018).

Confronted with exclusion of their survey as to *three* of the nine tasks, and with a continuance denied, the class was unable to instantly switch gears and to put on the necessary proof with the witnesses previously listed to testify. Proof via representative testimony need only be made with sufficient certainty to show damages and to provide a reasonable basis for estimating damages. *See ESCA Corp. v. KPMG Peat Marwick*, 86 Wn. App. 628, 639, 939 P.2d 1228, 1233 (1997), *aff'd*, 135 Wn. 2d 820, 959 P.2d 651 (1998); and *Gaasland Co. v. Hyak Lumber & Millwork, Inc.*, 42 Wn.2d 705, 713, 257 P.2d 784 (1953). Given a fair opportunity to prepare their case to match

the new ruling on appeal, they certainly could do so here.⁵ This Court should grant review and reverse.

C. This appeal also presents the question of first impression whether tasks an employer trains its employees to do are "integral or necessary to the performance of the job," or otherwise compensable.

The appellate court's analysis of whether assembling ergonomic equipment was compensable focused on whether the task was "integral or necessary to the performance of the job." As noted *supra*, the employees demonstrated (as with signing up for breaks) that the employer trained them to perform this task pre-shift and that the employer controls where and when the task must occur. As with the breaks issue, that is sufficient to carry their claims to a jury.

No Washington case addresses whether an employer training its employees to perform a task, in and of itself, creates a reasonable inference that the task is "integral or necessary to

⁵ VCC's own expert, Dr. Nickerson, confirmed that individual and class-wide damages could be calculated from available data. CP 1451 – 1453; 1463; 1495 - 1496.

the performance of the job." On signing up for breaks, the appellate court held that "the employees' evidence that they were trained to sign up for breaks prior to their shift creates a reasonable inference that they were authorized to do so." *Robertson* at 12. And "[e]mployers are required to compensate employees for any time 'authorized or required' not just the work it requires." *Id.* at 11; (citing RCW 49.46.020, .130; WAC 296-126-002(8)). *That* analysis should be the law of Washington.

But the appellate decision erroneously found *no evidence* that the employees were trained to assemble ergonomic equipment as part of their pre-shift preparations. On the contrary, taking the facts in the light most favorable to the employees, there is no dispute in this record that such training occurred. *See infra* and Mot. for Recon. at 1-7.

This is an excellent case for this Court to instruct that RCW 49.46.020, .130, WAC 296-126-002(8), and Admin.

Policy ES.C.2 require employers to compensate employees for

performing tasks the employer trains its employees to perform

on its premises. The trial and appellate courts erred in failing to

do so. This Court should accept review on this issue of

substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

CONCLUSION

In the context of an appellate court denying hundreds of

Washington workers compensation for unpaid work under the

MWA – where the appellate court otherwise held that the trial

court had committed multiple manifest legal errors – granting

review here is imperative.