FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/11/2021 3:26 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

### SUPREME COURT NO. 100194-1 Court of Appeals No. 80864-3-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CATHLEEN ROBERTSON, et al, Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

 $\nu$ .

VALLEY COMMUNICATIONS CENTER, Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY HON. MICAHEL K. RYAN, JUDGE

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Shannon E. Phillips, WSBA #25631 M. Quinn Oppenheim, WSBA #45094 SUMMIT LAW GROUP PLLC 315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000 Seattle, WA 98104-2682 (206) 676-7000 shannonp@summitlaw.com quinno@summitlaw.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court accepts review of a decision of the Court of Appeals only under the limited circumstances delineated in RAP 13.4(b). Review is appropriate if a Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another Court of Appeals or if "the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). Neither circumstance is presented here.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Regarding Whether Employees Presented a Genuine Factual Issue that Locating Ergonomic Equipment was "Work" Is Consistent with Applicable Precedent.

The Court of Appeals' determination that Employees failed to present evidence of a genuine issue of fact as to

whether time spent by some employees, on some occasions, looking for preferred chairs or ergonomic equipment was "hours worked" does not conflict with any precedent of the Supreme Court or another Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals first noted that the Minimum Wage Act requires employees to be compensated for all hours worked. Opinion at 9 (citing RCW 49.46.020, .130). It then noted that hours worked includes any time an employee is "authorized or required by the employer to be on duty on the employer's premises or at a prescribed work place." *Id.* (citing WAC 296-126-002(8)). The Court of Appeals then looked at policy guidance from the Department of Labor & Industries ("L&I") regarding when time spent conducting preparatory tasks is considered hours worked ("L&I policy"). *Id.* (citing Wash. Dep't of Labor & Indus., Admin. Policy ES.C.2, at 8 (rev. Sept. 2, 2008)). In so doing, the Court of Appeals noted that "[a]n agency policy can be useful in determining the meaning of statutory terms." *Id.*, n.6 (citing *Stahl v. Delicor of* Puget Sound, Inc., 148 Wn.2d 876, 886-87, 64 P.3d 10 (2003); Richardson v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 6 Wn. App. 2d 896, 909, 432 P.3d 841 (2018), review denied, 193 Wn.2d 1009, 439 P.3d 1069 (2019)).

The Court of Appeals noted that under the L&I policy, compensable preparatory tasks are those which are "integral or

necessary to the performance of the job." *Id.* It further pointed out that pursuant to the L&I policy, when an employee does not have control over when and where preparatory activities can be made, the activities are considered hours worked. *Id.* 

Applying these standards to the question of whether Employees established a genuine issue of fact as to whether time spent looking for a certain chair or ergonomic equipment is work, the Court of Appeals concluded that "Employees point to no specific facts that establish the use of ergonomic equipment was 'integral or necessary' to the completion of the job [and] no evidence that VCC required employees to use this ergonomic equipment or that an employees were ever disciplined for not using ergonomic equipment." Id. at 9-10. In support of this conclusion, the Court of Appeals pointed to evidence that both employees and supervisors describe the selection of chairs and use of ergonomic equipment as "a matter of preference." Id. at 10. The Court of Appeals rejected Employees' argument that the on-time reporting policy made looking for a preferred chair or optional ergonomic equipment "integral or necessary to the performance of the job," noting that the "policy does not set out specific requirements for what

preparations must occur. It does not require the use of ergonomic equipment." *Id*.<sup>6</sup>

Even though Employees relied on the L&I policy as appropriate for determining whether preparatory tasks are compensable, *id.* at 239, n.6, they now argue that the Court of Appeals' reliance on the standard set forth in the L&I policy conflicts with this Court's decision in *Weeks v. Chief of State Patrol*, 96 Wn.2d 893, 639 P.2d 732 (1982). Employees' effort to manufacture a conflict fails.

Weeks did not involve the question of what pre-shift, preparatory tasks are compensable as "hours worked." Rather, this Court addressed the question of whether and when a lunch period of employees was compensable. In so doing, this Court first looked to *Lindell v. General Elec. Co.*, 44 Wn.2d 386, 267 P.2d 709 (1954), in which this Court found that the lunch hour of patrolmen at a nuclear plant was "work," as "[t]hey were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Employees argue that the Court of Appeals contradicted itself in finding an issue of fact as to whether signing up for breaks is work, but no issue of fact as to whether looking for ergonomic equipment is work. While this argument is not relevant to the criteria for review by this Court, it ignores that the Court of Appeals identified additional evidence presented by Employees regarding break sign-ups, such as performance reviews addressing an employee's ability to sign up for breaks pre-shift and a memorandum from management discussing the expectation to sign up for breaks before shift-start. *Id*.

under the domination and control of their superiors and were subject to be called out on a moment's notice." *Weeks*, 96 Wn.2d at 897 (citing *Lindell*, 44 Wn.2d at 394). This Court also looked to the regulation governing meal periods, which provides: "Meal periods shall be on the employer's time when the employee is required by the employer to remain on duty ... at a prescribed work site in the interest of the employer." *Weeks*, 96 Wn.2d at 898 (citing WAC 296-126-092(1)).

Employees here attempt to bring the pre-work time occasionally spent by some employees looking for a chair or ergonomic equipment under the Weeks' analysis that a lunch hour is compensable because employees are on-call. Pet. at 14. They do by asserting that "employees could be called into their shifts early during their preparation time." *Id.* However, Employees' suggestion that they are "under the domination and control of their superiors," Weeks, 96 Wn.2d at 897, during the entire time when they happen to be in the building before their work shifts is not supported by the evidence. First, employees are not required to be on-site at any particular time pre-shift. CP 655, ¶ 18. There are no limitations on their ability to leave the VCC building before shift-start, and the evidence in the record is that they do so. E.g., CP 3512, 3544. Employees point to testimony of one employee that on one occasion he agreed to start work early at the request of a supervisor, and he

claims he was not paid for this time. Pet. at 14 (citing CP 1573, 1952). Such work outside of Employees' scheduled work time is governed by the overtime terms of collective bargaining agreement. CP 653, 673-74. One employee's assertion that on one occasion he was not properly paid per the union contract for overtime does not convert all time employees are in the building before work, from whenever they choose to arrive, no matter what they are doing, to the equivalent of a paid lunch hour.<sup>7</sup>

The Court of Appeals' evaluation of whether Employees presented a genuine issue of fact as to whether looking for a chair or ergonomic equipment before a scheduled shift constitutes "hours worked" does not conflict with the precedent of this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Pursuant to the terms of the collective bargaining agreement, Employees could be requested to work mandatory overtime whether they are at home on a day off or on the VCC premises. CP 673-74. By Employees' logic, VCC would have to pay everyone around the clock, regardless of location. This is obviously an absurd result.

# B. The Court of Appeals' Evaluation of Evidence of Training Regarding Ergonomic Equipment Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Although not identified as an issue presented for review, Employees argue that an issue of substantial public interest is raised by the Court of Appeals' evaluation of evidence of training employees receive regarding ergonomic equipment and whether such training makes the time spent looking for preferred ergonomic equipment pre-shift "work." The Court of Appeals' consideration of the evidence regarding such training and its determination that "Employees point to no specific facts that establish the use of ergonomic equipment was 'integral or necessary' to the completion of the job," Opinion at 9, does not raise an issue of import beyond this case.

The "training" evidence presented by Employees regarding ergonomic equipment does not support their argument that the time some employees occasionally spend locating such preferred equipment is "necessary or integral" to the job. Employees cite to several pages of the record to support their allegation that VCC trained them to use ergonomic equipment and to locate it pre-shift. *See* Pet. at 10-11, n.3, 4. Many of the cited pages say nothing about training related to ergonomic equipment. *See* CP 1654, 1678, 1701-2, 1733, 1766, 1841. Those pages that do refer to training

either discuss general training about ergonomics or how to use the available equipment (see CP 1690, 1719, 1758, 1866, 2121, 3574) or training that employees should locate whatever equipment they might prefer before starting work, if they have chairs or equipment they like to use (see CP 1773, 1801, 1834, 1846). The Court of Appeals considered this evidence in conjunction with other undisputed evidence regarding time spent looking for chairs or ergonomic equipment, which established that many employees do not have chair or equipment preferences, and that those who do only occasionally spend time looking for these items pre-shift. Supra, § III.A.3. The Court of Appeals' determination that the evidence regarding locating ergonomic equipment, including that relating to training, did not establish that such activities were "integral or necessary" does not raise an issue of interest beyond the parties in this case.

# C. The Court of Appeals' Determination That the Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion Regarding the Admissibility of Expert Evidence Does Not Merit Review.

The Court of Appeals followed settled precedent in evaluating the trial court's decision to exclude expert evidence. Specifically, the Court of Appeals reviewed the trial court's exclusion of the expert testimony for an abuse of discretion,

under which a decision will be overturned only if it is "manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons." Opinion at 15 (citing *Philippides v. Bernard*, 151 Wn.2d 376, 393, 88 P.3d 939 (2004); *Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc.*, 156 Wn.2d 677, 684, 132 P.3d 115 (2006)). The Court of Appeals determined that this standard was not met, as:

The trial court's decision rested on its view that the survey and Siskin's opinions from it were not helpful to the jury and would confuse them because "he asked the wrong question." This is not manifestly unreasonable. The distinction between "preshift" and "per shift" is a central issue in this case: employees cannot recover for tasks performed during their shift because they have already been compensated for that time.

*Id.* at 15-16. As detailed above and recognized by the Court of Appeals, ample evidence in the record supported the trial court's determination that the faulty survey likely caused confusion, such that the results were unhelpful to the trier of fact. *Supra* § III.B.2; Opinion at 16.

The Washington cases cited by Employees do not conflict with the application of these standards by the Court of Appeals, as all of them recognize the role of the trial court in determining under ER 702 whether the proffered evidence

would be helpful to the trier of fact. <sup>8</sup> *E.g., State v. Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d 879, 890, 846 P.2d 502 (1993) ("If there is a precise problem identified by the defense which would render the test unreliable, then the testimony might not meet the requirements of ER 702 because it would not be helpful to the trier of fact."); *Johnson v. Harvey*, 44 Wn.2d 455, 456–57, 268 P.2d 662, 663 (1954) ("Whether or not he was so qualified is a matter largely within the discretion of the trial court, and we will not disturb its ruling unless it is manifest that its discretion has been abused.").<sup>9</sup>

### V. CONCLUSION

As Employees have not satisfied any of the criteria for review by this Court, their Petition for Review should be denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Some cases cited by Employees have no apparent relevance. *E.g.*, *State v. Meyer*, 37 Wn.2d 759, 769, 226 P.3d 204 (1951) (evaluating trial judge's decision to admit evidence that appellants objected to as irrelevant).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Employees also argue that the Court of Appeals incorrectly concluded that they "conceded below that they would be unable to prove damages on anything less than the full nine preshift tasks." Pet. at 12 (citing Opinion at 17-18). However, counsel for the Employees conceded just that. *See* RP 351:11-359:2; CP 3007.